
CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA 
Tuesday, April 16, 2024, 6:00 P.M. 

CALL TO ORDER   

INVOCATION. COUNCIL MEMBER WITT-MCMAHAN 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL         

   APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
a.) March 19, 2024 – City Council Regular Meeting 

COMMUNICATIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
a) Athens City Middle School update. Mike Simmons
b) National Day of Prayer Proclamation. Mayor Sherlin

REQUESTS FROM CITIZENS 

CONSENT AGENDA        
a) Approve Merit Construction contract increase from $36,339,714.71 to

$36,990,444.41 for construction of new school.
b) Approve HHM, CPA’s for performing the audit for FY June 30, 2024.
c) Approve report of debt obligation for $35,000,000 USDA school debt.
d) Reappoint Tyler Forrest to McMinn County Library Board, term expires June 30,

2027.

ORDINANCES 
a) Ordinance No. 1127 – Second Reading/Public Hearing –Approve Budget

Amendment for the fiscal year July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024.

OLD BUSINESS 

(1-5) 

(6-10) 

(11-18) 
(19-22) 

(23-26) 

()



NEW BUSINESS 
a) Approve purchase, in the amount of $420,000, of the Patricia Parker property

located next to Athens Regional Park, subject to decision by Probate Court to
approve the estate settlement.

b) Consideration of ordinance for time change of City Council Meetings from 6pm
to 3pm.

c) Motion regarding maternity leave policy.
d) Motion to approve Juneteenth (June 19th) as an official holiday and

consideration of additional holidays.

REPORTS 
a.) Community Development Report. ANTHONY CASTEEL 
b.) Finance Department Report.  MIKE KEITH 
c.) Fire Department Report.  BRANDON AINSWORTH 
d.) Police Department Report.  FRED SCHULTZ 

REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

ADJOURNMENT  

(27-30) 

(31-34) 
(35-44) 
(45-54) 
(55-62) 



ATHENS CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

March 19, 2024 

The Athens City Council met in regular session on Tuesday, March 19, at 6:00 p.m. Mayor Sherlin 
presiding.  The invocation was given by Council Member Curtis; and upon roll call, the following 
members were present: 

Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin 
Absent: Witt-McMahan 

The following decisions were made and ordered made a part of the records of the Athens City 
Council. 

- 1 -
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

The minutes of the February 20, 2024, City Council Regular scheduled meeting were submitted 
and approved. Council Member Curtis moved; Vice Mayor Eaton seconded approval of 
corrected minutes. 

AYES: Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 

-2-
COMMUNICATION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

ATHENS INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL UPDATE  

Principal Angel Hardaway gave an update on Athens Intermediate School and the K-kids activities 
taking place at the school. Specifically giving a shoutout to our very own City Police and Fire 
Department. 

- 3 -
REQUESTS FROM CITIZENS 

Mayor Sherlin addressed the audience and Council. He read the Civil Contract for Citizens. Mayor 
Sherlin also advised Council to not be on their phones during the meeting. 

Eight (8) individuals addressed the Council expressing concerns about Resolution 2024-09, the 
Education Freedom Scholarship Act, Regional Park, Time Change, and Patricia Parker Property. 

1



- 4 -
CONSENT AGENDA 

Mayor Sherlin advised the recording clerk to read the following items into the record: 

a) Approve Purchase of Laptops for Police Vehicles Utilizing State Bid Prices.
b) Approve Proposal from Pyro Shows in the amount of $45,000 for July 4, 2024
Fireworks at Athens Regional Park.
c) Approve Resolution No. 2024-06 designating April as Fair Housing Month in the
City of Athens.
d) Approve Resolution No. 2024-07 to apply for $50,000 grant for the Tennessee
Highway Safety Office Grant.
e) Approve Resolution No. 2024-08 to Approve Engineering Selection for ARC Grant
for Exit 52 Industrial Park.
f) Declare Fire Burn Box as Surplus Property and sell as scrap material.
g) Approve Excess Fund Balance Transfer in the amount of $1,500.000 From the
General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund.
h) Approve Purchase of Equipment for Police Vehicles Utilizing State Bid Prices.
i) Approve One Year Extension of Contract with Huggins Lawn Care for Mowing
and Maintenance of City Properties.
j) Approve One Year Extension of Contract with Total Lawn Care for Mowing and
Maintenance of City Cemeteries.

Mayor Sherlin asked for a motion. Council Member Curtis moved, Council Pelley seconded, that 
the Consent Agenda as stated be approved. Roll call: 

AYES: Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Witt-McMahan 

- 5 -
ORDINANCES 

a) Ordinance No. 1125– Second Reading/Public Hearing –Approval of the rezoning request
by Christopher S Lingerfelt to change a parcel located at 1304 North Jackson Street from
I-1 (Light Industrial District) to R-2(Medium-Density Residential District).

Mayor Sherlin asked for a motion. Vice Mayor Eaton moved, Council member Curtis seconded, 
that Ordinance 1125 as stated be approved. Mayor Sherlin opened the public hearing.  There 
being no one wishing to speak, the public hearing was closed. Roll call: 

AYES: Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS: None 

2



ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 
 

b) Ordinance No. 1126 – Second Reading/To amend the Athens Municipal Code Title 1, 
Chapter 1, Section 102 Council Order of Business Agenda Item Seven (7) From “Request 
of Citizens” to “Citizens Comments” At Regularly City Council Meetings. 

 
Mayor Sherlin asked for a motion. Council Member Curtis moved, Vice Mayor Eaton seconded, 
that Ordinance 1126 as stated be approved.  Mayor Sherlin opened for public hearing 
comments. There was an unknown citizen who spoke up and agreed from the audience. Roll 
call: 
 

AYES:  Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS:  None 
ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 

 
- 6 - 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

Motion Regarding Purchasing of Patricia Parker Property next to Athens Regional Park 
 
Vice Mayor Eaton made a motion to approve the Mayor, City Manager, City Attorney to 
negotiate from the lowest appraisal to the highest appraisal with the Estate. Council Member 
Curtis seconded the motion. Mayor Sherlin opened for discussion. Council Member Pelley 
spoke in regards that it would be wise to delay until it’s been determined who owns the property. 
Vice Mayor Eaton said he would like the City Attorney to address the issue. Attorney Chris 
Caldwell took to the podium. He explained the dispute and process of the will and how the will 
has been placed with the clerk of Master, Chancery Court in McMinn County. Attorney Chris 
Caldwell informed the audience and Council there is no hurry and all heirs of Mrs. Parker have 
been notified. This will have been going on for over two years.  
Roll Call: 

 
AYES:  Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS:  None 
ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 

 
 - 7 - 

 
NEW BUSINESS 

 
Approve Budget Amendment #1 for the City of Athens 
 
Mayor Sherlin asked for a motion. Council Member Curtis moved, Vice Mayor Eaton seconded 
to approve the Budget Amendment. There was no discussion. 
Roll call: 

3



 
 AYES:  Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 

NAYS:  None 
ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 

 
- 8- 

 
Approve Resolution No. 2024-09 Regarding Education Freedom Scholarship Act. 
 
Council Member Curtis made a motion to remove item B under New Business to April when all 
candidates are present. Mayor Sherlin asked if there was a second. There was none. Motion 
failed. Council Member Curtis moved approval. Mayor Sherlin asked if there was a second. 
There was none. Council Member Pelley moved to postpone. Council Member Curtis second. 
Upon roll call, the motion failed by the following vote: Roll call: 
 

AYES:  Curtis, Pelley,  
NAYS:  Eaton, Sherlin 
ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 
 

- 9- 
 

Motion to Approve Converting Dennis Street at Rocky Mt. Road to a Four Way Stop at a Cost Not 
to Exceed $5,000 
 
Council Member Curtis moved approval. Vice Mayor Eaton second.  Mayor Sherlin opened for 
discussion. Council Member Curtis addressed this motion would involve stop signs at the 
intersection. Vice Mayor Eaton requested a timeline be set up. Mayor Sherlin asked the City 
Manager if this could be done in 30 days. City Manager agreed. Roll Call: 
 

AYES:  Curtis, Eaton, Sherlin 
NAYS:  Pelley 
ABSENT:  Witt-McMahan 

 
  -10- 

 
REPORTS 

 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT REPORT 
 
Mike Keith presented the Finance Department Report for February 2024. The report was 
accepted as presented. 

 
- 11-  

 

4



FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Fire Chief Brandon Ainsworth presented the Fire Department Report for February 2024. The 
report was accepted as presented.  

- 12-

POLICE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Police Chief Fred Schultz presented the Police Department Report for February 2024.  The report 
was accepted as presented.  

- 13-

REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

City Manager Deb Wallace presented an update on various projects and programs taking place. 
The report was accepted as presented.  

-14-

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the meeting was adjourned at 7:15 
p.m.

Council Member Curtis moved, Vice Mayor Eaton second, for the meeting to be adjourned. 

AYES:  Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS:  
ABSENT: Witt-McMahan 

STEVEN S. SHERLIN, Mayor 

DEB WALLACE, City Manager 

5



 
 

 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Deb Wallace, City Manager 

FROM: Mike Keith, Director of Finance 

DATE: April 3, 2024 

RE:        Approval for change orders for school construction project 
 
     
The original contract with Merit Construction was approved for $27,365,000 and did not include 
the 3-5 grades wing.  Change order number 1 added the cost for the 3-5 grades wing and brought 
the total cost to $36,339,714.71.  Attached is a cost tracking sheet prepared by the architects for 
the school construction project showing a summary of all of the change orders.  Council approval 
is required in order to pay any amount above the amount shown after change order number 1.  
The revised total contract price is $36,990,444.41 for Merit.  Bob Owens and Joe Barnett will be 
here at the Study Session to discuss the impact of these change orders on the entire project.     

6



COST TRACKING FOR ATHENS PREK-5 SCHOOL October 19, 2023
revised per CO #07 2024-02-18

CONTRACT SUM ALLOWANCES CONTINGENCY NOTES

ORIGINAL CONTRACT AMOUNTS $27,365,000.00 $1,407,350.00 $750,000.00

add 3-5 classroom wing & window extensions $8,974,714.71

CHANGE ORDER 01 SUBTOTAL $8,974,714.71 $0.00 $0.00

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $36,339,714.71 $1,407,350.00 $750,000.00

4 bldg pad unsuitable soils $312,265.40

13 february 2021 delay days $0.00 4 days

14 SFMO changes $8,551.68

15 march 2021 delay days $0.00 4 days

16 gym floor graphics $627.00

17 added canopy scope $167,483.80

22 may 2021 delay days $0.00 1 day

23 food services floor sink add $3,014.84

25 asphalt index adjustment $1,313.99

26 replace storm structure #47 $5,522.10

27 june 2021 delay days $0.00 5 days

28 MS asphalt paving - phase I $143,000.00

29 keith lane box culvert mud matte $6,197.65

32 bldg undercut delay days $0.00 24 days

33 MS striping & signage $8,525.00

34 added water shut off valves $4,982.92

36 ext basketball court fencing $2,307.80

37 july 2021 delay days $0.00 5 days

43 coiling door electrical $1,392.85

44 september 2021 delay days $0.00 6 days

57 august 2021 delay days $0.00 4 days

- transfer remaining allowance 01-09 $32,786.22 ($32,786.22) should have been $32,784.60

CHANGE ORDER 02 SUBTOTAL $0.00 $345,051.62 $320,133.41

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $36,339,714.71 $1,062,298.38 $429,866.59

30 keith lane initial drop out repairs $23,839.02

39 keith lane drop out cap grouting $54,464.77 removed P&P bond

61 remove motorized window shades ($10,602.00)

63 october 2021 delay days $0.00 7 days

64 added hot box per AUB $25,026.97 removed P&P bond

66 december 2021 delay days $0.00 3 days

67 reduce corridor sound baffles ($4,200.00)

72 change electrical door swing $1,300.52

75 added hose bib $975.28

76 january 2022 delay days $0.00 4 days

79 dining projection screens $2,715.96

80 added roof drains $17,158.96 removed P&P bond

82 bipolar ionization filter change $4,609.00 removed P&P bond

86 playground & IT allowance removal ($1,060,000.00) $1,060,000.00

92 march 2022 delay days 2 days

CHANGE ORDER 03 SUBTOTAL ($1,060,000.00) $1,060,000.00 $115,288.48

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $35,279,714.71 $2,298.38 $314,578.11

68 custom yellow metal panels $17,886.00

78 egress stair rated gypsum board $3,972.10

81 reception area wall support $4,303.43

89 parapet backside insulation ($23,349.06)

90 underground power for digital signage $18,452.50

98 loading dock trash can drain $2,513.35

99 outdoor basketball goal change $5,964.30

105 dining egress lighting & access controls $4,979.70

106 main entry & courtyard soffit framing $15,831.20

CHANGE ORDER 01

CHANGE ORDER 04

CHANGE ORDER 03

CHANGE ORDER 02

7



COST TRACKING FOR ATHENS PREK-5 SCHOOL October 19, 2023
revised per CO #07 2024-02-18

CONTRACT SUM ALLOWANCES CONTINGENCY NOTES

135 area G window conflict $9,055.20

CHANGE ORDER 04 SUBTOTAL $0.00 $0.00 $59,608.72

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $35,279,714.71 $2,298.38 $254,969.39

60 removing classroom window lighting ($8,000.00)

69 main roof scuppers $12,408.00

107 MS sidewalk & stair $107,797.50

113 soccer fencing changes $4,946.70

114 playground fencing $1,685.20

115 softball concrete sidewalk (red) $69,959.67

116 pressbox concrete sidewalk (yellow) $14,387.45

117 soccer concrete sidewalk (green) $27,663.90

118 concessions concrete sidewalk (blue) $14,443.00

119 fire rated wall above CMU at joist $1,609.30

120 fire rated ceiling removal at vaults ($1,648.00)

122 city scope reductions $18,260.16

123 preK playground grading & storm $6,492.64

124 courtyard playground grading & storm $8,639.77

126 dugout water hydrant $1,463.00

129 athletic stormwater $311,968.45

130 athletic regrading $421,106.66

132 athletic site electrical changes ($1,008.89)

133 athletic additional site lighting (red pole) $8,646.01

136a caulking top of window extensions $5,500.00

146a additional parking (blue) $99,825.97

146b additional parking (red) $180,081.85

147 media center additional sprinkler heads $7,478.42

150 bathroom window film $962.50

CHANGE ORDER 05 SUBTOTAL $1,265,494.61 $0.00 $49,174.65

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $36,545,209.32 $2,298.38 $205,794.74

110 stair doors F218 & G223 $10,672.20 sent to ACS 05/23/23

111 door schedule E201 $5,336.10 sent to ACS 05/23/23

127 concessions sanitary sewer $58,630.97

134 infield mix - softball to baseball & bullpen ($71,129.55)

134 infield mix - softball field credit ($56,129.50)

134 soccer field sod credit ($31,659.60)

134 outfield sod credit ($23,152.92)

134 soccer field french drain credit ($29,011.17)

134 infield french drain credit ($15,281.42)

134 outfield french drain credit ($21,619.11)

148 replace music & STEM sinks $3,347.22

149 refrigerant line walls $811.32

152 gym fire resistive glazing $2,981.00 increase of $1,692.24

153 transaction windows $330.00

154 light pole bases at storm structures $3,788.28

155 spray wash GFI breaker $1,012.65

157 city scope concrete & striping credit ($7,230.00)

159 concessions stand $507,343.44

160 media center storefront window / metal $2,915.00

165 pressbox $185,874.92 increase of $1,497.63

166 credit for CCC basin water treatment ($5,300.00)

- transfer remaining allowance 10-11 $2,298.38 ($2,312.17)

CHANGE ORDER 06 SUBTOTAL $445,235.09 $2,312.17 $74,982.57

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $36,990,444.41 ($13.79) $130,812.17

141 september 2022 delay days $0.00 2 days

151 january 2023 delay days $0.00 2 days

CHANGE ORDER 05

CHANGE ORDER 07

CHANGE ORDER 06

8



COST TRACKING FOR ATHENS PREK-5 SCHOOL October 19, 2023
revised per CO #07 2024-02-18

CONTRACT SUM ALLOWANCES CONTINGENCY NOTES

167 carbon monoxide detector in boiler room $1,071.88

168 room A136 & D131 ionization power $4,173.68

169 light pole bases at west storm structures $3,604.21

170 F203 radon piping $1,438.80

171 sprinkler heads under monumental stair $4,812.50

175 floor expansion joint covers $990.00

177 zurn power add $3,078.31

178 MS site soccer field drop out repairs $18,845.26

180 asphalt index thru 09/05/23 $53,366.37

182 soccer field regrading adjusting slope $10,409.63

CHANGE ORDER 07 SUBTOTAL $0.00 $0.00 $101,790.64

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $36,990,444.41 ($13.79) $29,021.53

183 concessions toilet partition changes $1,171.04

CHANGE ORDER 07 SUBTOTAL $0.00 $0.00 $1,171.04

RUNNING CONTRACT SUM TOTAL $36,990,444.41 ($13.79) $27,850.49

CHANGE ORDER SUBTOTALS $9,625,444.41

$36,990,444.41 ($13.79) $27,850.49

CURRENT CONTRACT "APPROVED" TOTAL

CURRENT CONTRACT BALANCE SUBTOTALS

$36,962,607.71

CHANGE ORDER 08

9



COST TRACKING FOR ATHENS PREK-5 SCHOOL October 19, 2023
revised per CO #07 2024-02-18

CONTRACT SUM ALLOWANCES CONTINGENCY NOTES

OWNER CONTINGENCY $575,741.93 as of Change Order 07

REMAINING CONTINGENCY GRAND TOTAL $603,592.42

DROPOUT REPAIRS $100,000.00

NORTH SITE EXCAVATION / UNSUITABLE SOILS $0.00 none

ASPHALT INDEX $75,000.00 refer also to PCO 104

PLAYGROUND REGRADING $0.00 already priced, approved, included

POWERS PATH $0.00 already priced, approved, included

CITY REGRADING FOR SIDEWALKS $0.00 already priced, approved, included

UNKNOWN BUILDING PCOs $100,000.00

MISCELLANEOUS $100,000.00

"HOLDOUT" CONTINGENCY SUBTOTAL $375,000.00

AVAILABLE OVERALL CONTINGENCY $228,592.42

172 caulking sides of window extensions $20,000.00

179 canopy flashing

STEM acoustical panels

credit for artificial turf concrete curb ($8,175.00) keep in turf credit

remaining asphalt index adjustment $15,000.00 rough estimate

radio repeater system upgrades (800mH)

credit for construction utilities ($16,701.24)

zoysia grass at athletic fields sent sketch to merit 11/13

OUTSTANDING PCO SUBTOTAL $10,123.76 $0.00 $0.00

REMAINING CONTRACTOR CONTINGENCY $27,850.49

REMAINING OVERALL CONTINGENCY $228,592.42

"HOLDOUT" CONTINGENCIES

OUTSTANDING PCOs (MINUS REDESIGN CHANGES)

10



FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Deb Wallace, City Manager 

FROM: Mike Keith, Director of Finance 

DATE: April 3, 2024 

RE:   Auditors for year ending June 30, 2024 

Scott Scouten with Neal, Scouten & McConnell, P. C. notified me recently that they would not be 
able to continue as auditors for the City.  The firm performed a number of governmental audits 
and lost several employees that worked in this area of the firm.  They join a number of smaller 
firms that will no longer provide auditing services for governmental entities due to staffing issues. 
The firm will cease operations sometime during this year due to staffing issues and the desire of 
one partner to retire.   

AUB issued an RFP for auditors prior to the announcement being made by the firm.  They selected 
three firms to interview and allowed me to sit in the interviews to see if the firms might be 
interested in auditing both the City and City Schools as well.  Staff at AUB determined that the 
firm HHM, CPA’s, with local offices in Chattanooga and Cleveland, was their selection.  Lisa 
Cranfill from the City Schools and I met with the firm recently and it is our recommendation that 
the firm be selected by each of us also.  This will allow all entities to be audited by the same firm 
as has been the case for approximately 25 years.   

I would appreciate this being placed on the agenda for April in order to allow the new firm to 
begin plans for the timing of preliminary and final fieldwork.  Please let me know if you have any 
questions or need any additional information concerning this matter. 

11



November 21, 2023

1200 Market Street
Chattanooga, TN 37402

423.756.7771

Proposal to provide general audit services to

Pacific Surfacing, Inc.

Brittany Carman, CPA
bcarman@hhmcpas.com

423.541.2024

www.HHMCPAS.com423.708.3980 266 Inman Street E | Cleveland, TN

Proposal to provide financial and  compliance audit services to

City of Athens

12

tel:(423)%20702-7270


MOVING
BUSINESS

We pledge to listen, understand, and exceed
our clients' expectations by providing the
highest quality accounting, tax, and
consulting services. HHM is the connecting
point for moving business forward.

Since its founding, HHM has delivered
innovative solutions and old-fashioned hard
work to establish itself as one of the region’s
leading public accounting firms. HHM puts
its integrity, expertise, and energy to work
for every single client, helping each to meet
financial challenges and benefit from
business opportunities as they arise.

250+

Profile of
HHM CPAS
As one of the industry’s leading accounting firms, HHM CPAs is uniquely positioned to provide
services to you. For over four decades, HHM has provided comprehensive accounting,
assurance, and tax services to clients across the country. With the combined experience and
knowledge of our 32 partners and more than 250 managers and staff, our strengths are
numerous. This allows us to allocate the best resources and bring a focused approach to your
engagement. 

EMPLOYEES

1981 
FOUNDED

13+
YEARS DOUBLE
DIGIT ORGANIC
GROWTH

100
ONE OF THE TOP 100
CPA FIRMS IN THE US

FORWARD

All HHM team members adhere to the requirements for Continuing Professional Education
(CPE) of the Tennessee State Board of Accountancy, the Yellow Book, Government Auditing
Standards, and the AICPA. The partners and staff of HHM have a wealth of knowledge in
auditing and accounting for local governments, nonprofits, and schools. Adam Osborne, the
lead partner on this engagement, has substantial experience in auditing similar entities as
your organization.

AUDITING EXPERIENCE

13



A SEAMLESS AND EFFICIENT TRANSITION

Arriving at fieldwork prepared

We supply you with a detailed list of required
documents well in advance during the planning
stage, allowing you sufficient time to collect the

necessary information.

Choosing a team

 We carefully pick a team skilled in onboarding
new clients to ensure a smooth transition.

Reducing your burden

 Our planning approach includes examining work
papers from the previous year, utilizing

documents you regularly prepare during your
monthly closing process, and providing you with

custom templates for your use.

Investing in our partnership

It involves dedicating more time to
comprehensively understanding your

organization and fostering strong connections.

We mitigate
onboarding

issues

Our Approach
We understand that switching accounting firms can be both an opportunity and a challenge.
Our method is designed to lessen the effects of the change thoughtfully and effectively.

Final
Assessment

and 
Report

Risk
Assessment

and
Planning

Major Program
Testing

We will conduct our single audit in three primary phases, as shown below.

SINGLE AUDIT APPROACH

14



Your Engagement 

HHM has the personnel, experience, and expertise to fulfill your audit needs. The chart below
breaks down our proposed pricing.

If requested, we are available for consultation and support assistance. Services in addition to
those contemplated herein will be billed at our hourly rates, which range depending on the level of
staff required to complete the work. In the event that additional services are required, client
approval will always be obtained before proceeding.

Planning and scheduling are vital in completing a successful engagement. We always strive to be
responsive and in constant contact throughout the entire process to make sure your goals are
met. 

Each of HHM's engagements is unique. We take great care in understanding each client's needs and
design our work accordingly. We will meet with key members of your management to understand
your needs and goals.

TIMING 

OUR PROPOSED PRICING 

Project Proposed Fees

City of Athens $35,000

Single Audit $15,000

Total $50,000

OUR REFERENCES

Client Contact

City of Chattanooga Vickie Haley: 423.643.7370

City of Columbia Thad Jablonski: 931.560.1510

City of East Ridge Dianne Qualls: 423.867.7711

City of Pikeville Philip Cagle: 423.447.2919
15



ADAM
OSBORNE

Managing Partner, CPA, CGMA

423.458.8031
aosborne@hhmcpas.com

Cleveland Office

EDUCATION
Lee University, Bachelor of Science in Accounting, Business
Administration

PROFESSIONAL & OUTSIDE AFFILIATIONS
Tennessee Society of Certified Public Accountants
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Leadership Cleveland Alumni Association, President
Young Professionals Circle through United Way of the Ocoee
Region, President
United Way of the Ocoee Region, Board Member 
Auto Team America Association
Chattanooga Regional Homeless Coalition, Treasurer and Board
Member, 2019-2022
Boys and Girls Club of Chattanooga, Treasurer and Board
Member, 2019-2022

AREAS OF CONCENTRATION
Industries:
Governmental
Construction
School Districts 
Nonprofit
Retail

Services:
Accounting & Assurance
Tax Planning

ABOUT
As the managing partner for the firm’s Cleveland office, Adam
Osborne provides assurance, accounting, and tax services for
manufacturers, dealerships, retailers, contractors, realtors and not for
profit entities. His experience and dedication allow him to add value in
many ways to his client from offering guidance on how to improve
business practices to ensure they meet management’s goals and
objectives to properly planning for taxation at the end of the year.
Adam ensures the service he and HHM provide are not seen as a
commodity.

Adam played a large part in the firm’s expansion to Bradley County
and has been the boots on the ground in the area. He was born and
raised in Cleveland and is raising his family there. He joined the firm in
2008 after he graduated from Lee University. He is the president of
the Leadership Cleveland Alumni Association, President of the Young
Professionals Circle through United Way of the Ocoee Region, and on
the board of directors for United Way of the Ocoee Region. He is also
involved with the Cleveland Chamber of Commerce and the Rotary
Club of Cleveland. 

Adam’s most enjoyable part of his career is focusing on internal
control procedures and evaluating deficiencies with his clients. He also
takes great pride in guiding and strengthening internal audit
departments for his clients. 

Adam has a balanced approach in all he does, which is highly valued
by both HHM’s clients and the firm itself. Adam enjoys teaching others
information he learns along the way and spends a great deal of his
time training his team members and his clients. 

266 Inman Street E,

Cleveland, TN 37311

hhmcpas.com

16



WESTON
PORTER

Partner, CPA

423.702.8382
wporter@hhmcpas.com

Cleveland Office

EDUCATION
University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, Bachelor of Science in
Accounting

PROFESSIONAL & OUTSIDE AFFILIATIONS
Tennessee Society of Certified Public Accountants
Chattanooga Autism Center, Treasurer
Ludic Spectrum Center, Board Member

AREAS OF CONCENTRATION
Industries:
Nonprofit & Governmental
Construction
Manufacturing & Distribution

Services:
Accounting & Assurance
Tax Planning

ABOUT
Weston joined HHM’s Accounting and Assurance group in 2012
after graduating from the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga
with an accounting degree. He provides audit services to
governmental, non-profit, construction, and manufacturing clients,
in addition to local and regional trade contractor unions. 

As a partner, he executes a wide array of tasks from leading and
planning audits, reviews and compilations, to field work and
financial statement preparation. In addition to his audit
responsibilities, Weston is involved in HHM’s tax practice. His tax
experience includes solving complex tax issues and preparing state
and federal tax documents for nonprofit, construction, real estate,
manufacturing and individual clients. Weston enjoys sharing his
well developed skills and knowledge through mentoring staff
accountants. 

Realizing his proficiency for numbers early in life, Weston worked
for six years in bookkeeping and managerial roles at Bi-Lo grocery
stores beginning his senior year of high school. His strong work
ethic and customer service experience serve him well in his
current role, as he always strives to see every client’s needs
through to completion. 

When not working, Weston enjoys spending time with his wife and
three children. He is also heavily involved in community outreach,
serving as the treasurer of the Chattanooga Autism Center.

266 Inman Street E,

Cleveland, TN 37311

hhmcpas.com

17



TERRY
WINSTEAD

Audit Director, CPA

423.541.2022
twinstead@hhmcpas.com

Cleveland Office

EDUCATION
University of Tennessee at Knoxville, Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration, Magna Cum Laude

PROFESSIONAL & OUTSIDE AFFILIATIONS
Tennessee Society of Certified Public Accountants, Vice President
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Tennessee Food on Foot Foundation, Board Member
Leadership Chattanooga, 2007 Graduate
Morristown Cherokee Lions Club, Past President

AREAS OF CONCENTRATION
Industries:
Governmental 
Manufacturing & Distribution
Construction
Nonprofit 
Employee Benefit Plans

Services:
Accounting & Assurance
Peer Reviews

ABOUT
Terry Winstead is a director at HHM CPAs. Backed with over 20 years
of experience, Terry brings knowledge gained in both private and
public accounting to serve tax, audit, and consulting clients in the
manufacturing, construction, governmental, and nonprofit industries. 

In addition, Terry is heavily involved in HHM’s peer review practice,
helping other CPA firms improve their quality of service. Terry worked
in public accounting at the start of his career, then spent time as a
controller for a furniture manufacturer in Morristown, Tennessee. He
re-entered public accounting in 2006 and has been an owner of a firm. 

During his career, Terry has also held various leadership positions
with professional and community organizations. 

In his free time, Terry enjoys traveling with his family and reading.

266 Inman Street E,

Cleveland, TN 37311

hhmcpas.com
18



19



20



21



22



ORDINANCE NO.  1127 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF ATHENS, 
TENNESSEE, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR JULY 1, 2023 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2024. 

 
WHEREAS, the Council for the City of Athens, Tennessee, after much consideration and 

study of the budget prepared and submitted by the City Manager, approved Ordinance No. 1120 
for the 2023-2024 budget and tax rate for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024 and has 
determined that an amendment is now necessary. 

 
SECTION 1.  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE, AS 

FOLLOWS: 
 
That the budget is hereby amended based upon the detail listing below showing the 

original budget, amended budget and increase or decrease in the budget for the current year. 
 

  ORIGINAL REVISED INCREASE 
ACCOUNT NO. DESCRIPTION BUDGET BUDGET (DECREASE) 

     
GENERAL FUND REVENUES:    
01-0000-4165 Local Sales Tax 8,400,000  8,800,000  400,000  
01-0000-4520 Grant Funds 0  100,000  100,000  
01-0000-4530 Grants - Police Department 0  370,000  370,000  
01-0000-4910 Interest Income 300,000  600,000  300,000  
01-0000-4925 Insurance Recoveries 0  77,000  77,000  
01-0000-4935 Third Party Contributions 0  25,000  25,000  

     
Increase in Revenues for General Fund   1,272,000  

     
GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES:    
City Manager     
01-0101-5110 Salaries:  Regular 160000 170000 10,000  
01-0101-5710 Liability Insurance 4,000  50,000  46,000  
City Council     
01-0102-5234 Member Dues & Regist Fees 13,000  15,000  2,000  
01-0102-5280 Travel 9,000  14,000  5,000  
Finance     
01-0201-5110 Salaries:  Regular 308,000  318,000  10,000  
01-0201-5140 FICA 24,000  28,000  4,000  
01-0201-5142 Group Life & Health Insurance 50,000  53,000  3,000  
01-0201-5262 Accounting & Audit Services 34,000  37,000  3,000  
01-0201-5710 Liability Insurance 3,800  5,800  2,000  

     
     
     
     23



Human 
Resources     
01-0301-5110 Salaries:  Regular 134,000  139,000  5,000  
01-0301-5142 Group Life & Health Insurance 16,000  22,000  6,000  
Purchasing     
01-0401-5110 Salaries:  Regular 72,000  76,000  4,000  
City Hall     
01-0402-5210 Postage 7,000  11,000  4,000  
01-0402-5274 R&M Buildings and Grounds 25,000  100,000  75,000  
01-0402-6090 Fixed Assets 0  7,000  7,000  
Community Development Administration    
01-0501-5110 Salaries:  Regular 136,000  142,000  6,000  
01-0501-5710 Liability Insurance 3,500  5,500  2,000  
Codes Enforcement    
01-0502-5110 Salaries:  Regular 186,000  200,000  14,000  
01-0502-5626 Other Contracts 15,000  25,000  10,000  
01-0502-6090 Fixed Assets 0  6,000  6,000  
Police Administration    
01-0601-5110 Salaries:  Regular 169,000  250,000  81,000  
01-0601-5140 FICA 12,300  19,300  7,000  
01-0601-5142 Group Life & Health Insurance 23,000  29,000  6,000  
01-0601-5710 Liability Insurance 7,000  37,000  30,000  
Police Patrol     
01-0602-6090 Fixed Assets 32,000  132,000  100,000  
Police Special Services    
01-0603-5110 Salaries:  Regular 351,000  430,000  79,000  
01-0603-5140 FICA 27,000  35,000  8,000  
01-0603-5142 Group Life & Health Insurance 51,000  62,000  11,000  
01-0603-6090 Fixed Assets 7,000  132,000  125,000  
Fire Administration    
01-0701-5110 Salaries:  Regular 133,000  150,000  17,000  
01-0701-5710 Liability Insurance 3,600  5,600  2,000  
Fire Prevention   .  
01-0702-5110 Salaries:  Regular 71,000  75,000  4,000  
01-0702-5955 Public Relations 10,000  14,000  4,000  
Fire Suppression     
01-0703-5110 Salaries:  Regular 1,100,000  1,230,000  130,000  
01-0703-5112 Salaries:  Overtime 130,000  160,000  30,000  
01-0703-5140 FICA 95,000  106,000  11,000  
01-0703-5150 Employee Education & Training 22,000  32,000  10,000  
01-0703-5242 Water 1,000  5,000  4,000  
01-0703-5272 R&M Motor Vehicle & Equip 30,000  50,000  20,000  
01-0703-5328 Clothing & Uniforms 63,000  80,000  17,000  
01-0703-5516 Tires & Tubes 9,000  14,000  5,000  
01-0703-6090 Fixed Assets 31,000  36,000  5,000  24



Parks & Rec Maintenance    
01-0802-5142 Group Life & Health Insurance 36,000  40,000  4,000  
01-0802-5274 R&M Buildings and Grounds 42,500  75,000  32,500  
01-0802-5710 Liability Insurance 12,000  40,000  28,000  
Parks & Rec Swimming Pools    
01-0803-5118 Salaries:  Seasonal 26,000  31,000  5,000  
01-0803-5278 R&M Other 3,000  9,000  6,000  
Parks & Rec Program Planning    
01-0804-5110 Salaries:  Regular 98,000  104,000  6,000  
01-0804-5298 Program Expenses 30,000  80,000  50,000  
01-0804-6040 Fourth of July Expenditures 0  50,000  50,000  
Public Works Administration    
01-0901-5110 Salaries:  Regular 226,000  240,000  14,000  
Public Works Street Maintenance    
01-0903-5624 Strip Paving 500,000  2,100,000  1,600,000  
Public Works Street Construction    
01-0904-5110 Salaries:  Regular 218,000  235,000  17,000  
01-0904-5140 FICA 16,000  18,000  2,000  
01-0904-5142 Group Life & Health Insurance 39,000  51,000  12,000  
01-0904-5264 Engineering & Landscaping 1,500  55,500  54,000  
Public Works Fleet Maintenance    
01-0906-5110 Salaries:  Regular 159,000  177,000  18,000  
01-0906-5140 FICA 12,000  13,000  1,000  
01-0906-5514 Fluids & Lubricants 15,000  21,000  6,000  
01-0906-5710 Liability Insurance 1,900  5,400  3,500  
Public Works Animal Control    
01-0908-5110 Salaries:  Regular 81,000  105,000  24,000  
01-0908-5240 Electric 7,000  12,000  5,000  
01-0908-5626 Other Contracts 8,000  12,000  4,000  
Non-Departmental     
01-1101-7245 Transfer to Capital Projects Fund 1,400,000  2,900,000  1,500,000  

     
Increase in Expenditures for General Fund   4,372,000  

     
Sources of Funds to cover General Fund Expenditures   
Fund Balance for Paving 1,600,000    
Excess Fund balance transfer 1,500,000    
Increase in Revenues 1,272,000    
Total sources of funds 4,372,000    
     
     
 
 
 
      
DEBT SERVICE FUND SCHOOLS    25



04-0000-5763 Retirement of Note 0  35,000,000  35,000,000  
04-0000-5765 Interest Expense 1,400,000  1,800,000  400,000  
04-0000-7110 Bond Proceeds 0  40,000,000  40,000,000  

     
Change in Debt Service Fund   4,600,000  

     
SANITATION FUND    
12-0907-5110 Salaries:  Regular 223,000  234,000  11,000  
12-0907-5112 Salaries:  Overtime 6,000  9,000  3,000  
12-0907-5512 Gasoline & Diesel 50,000  65,000  15,000  

     
Increase in Expenditures for Sanitation Fund   29,000  

 
      
 SECTION 2.  BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that all Ordinances, and parts of Ordinances in 
conflict with this Ordinance shall be, and the same are, hereby repealed and superseded. 
 
 SECTION 3.  BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that if any section, paragraph, clause, or sentence 
of this Ordinance shall be held invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not 
affect the remaining sections, paragraphs, clauses, and sentences.   
 
 SECTION 4.  BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED this Ordinance is declared to be an emergency 
ordinance to take effect from and after its passage. 
 
     PASSED ON FIRST READING:     
 
     PASSED ON SECOND READING:       
 
     DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING:     
 
 
                       
       STEVEN S. SHERLIN, Mayor 
       
DEB WALLACE, City Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
/s/       
CHRIS CALDWELL, City Attorney 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:27:39 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Breakdown by Major Incident Types for Date Range

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
Fires 8 3.92%

Rescue & Emergency Medical Service 139 68.14%

Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 4 1.96%

Service Call 9 4.41%

Good Intent Call 23 11.27%

False Alarm & False Call 21 10.29%

TOTAL 204 100%

Zone(s): All Zones | Start Date: 03/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 1 of 2 45

1261 Employee training hours
1 CPR class - 10 students
2 State inspections
Hazmat training
1 passed AEMT certification - Grueber
6 attended Truck Ops class in Dalton, GA
1 passed EMR - Cook
Leadership McMinn Interactive Show
Bright Beginnings - Touch-A-Truck
Life Maze - McMinn County High School
1 job shadow



Detailed Breakdown by Incident Type 

INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
111 - Building fire 1 0.49%
122 - Fire in motor home, camper, recreational vehicle 1 0.49%
131 - Passenger vehicle fire 1 0.49%
132 - Road freight or transport vehicle fire 1 0.49%
140 - Natural vegetation fire, other 2 0.98%
142 - Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire 1 0.49%
154 - Dumpster or other outside trash receptacle fire 1 0.49%
311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 125 61.27%
320 - Emergency medical service, other 1 0.49%
321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 3 1.47%
322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 7 3.43%
323 - Motor vehicle/pedestrian accident (MV Ped) 1 0.49%
324 - Motor vehicle accident with no injuries. 1 0.49%
353 - Removal of victim(s) from stalled elevator 1 0.49%
412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 2 0.98%
413 - Oil or other combustible liquid spill 1 0.49%
462 - Aircraft standby 1 0.49%
500 - Service Call, other 1 0.49%
550 - Public service assistance, other 2 0.98%
551 - Assist police or other governmental agency 3 1.47%
553 - Public service 1 0.49%
561 - Unauthorized burning 2 0.98%
611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 12 5.88%
622 - No incident found on arrival at dispatch address 3 1.47%
651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 5 2.45%
652 - Steam, vapor, fog or dust thought to be smoke 1 0.49%
653 - Smoke from barbecue, tar kettle 1 0.49%
671 - HazMat release investigation w/no HazMat 1 0.49%
700 - False alarm or false call, other 1 0.49%
733 - Smoke detector activation due to malfunction 1 0.49%
744 - Detector activation, no fire - unintentional 18 8.82%
745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 1 0.49%

TOTAL INCIDENTS: 204 100%

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 2 of 2 46



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:40:41 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Property Values versus Loss and Save per Incident for Date Range

INCIDENT # PRE-INCIDENT VALUE LOSSES SAVED
2024-393 $13,500.00 $13,500.00 $0.00

2024-476 $6,000.00 $300.00 $5,700.00

2024-488 $35,000.00 $20,000.00 $15,000.00

2024-507 $14,500.00 $14,500.00 $0.00

2024-543 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 $0.00

Totals: $77,500.00 $56,800.00 $20,700.00

Start Date: 03/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

Doc Id: 968
emergencyreporting.com

Both the PRE-INCIDENT VALUE and LOSSES columns are the summation of the respective Property and Contents 
fields as recorded on the Basic Info 5 screen of an incident. Only REVIEWED incidents included. EMS incidents 
excluded.

Page # 1 of 1 47



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:41:41 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Losses for Date Range

INCIDENT NUMBER DATE Incident Type PROPERTY LOSS CONTENT LOSS TOTAL % of Total
2024-393 03/01/2024 122 - Fire in motor home, camper, 

recreational vehicle
$13,500.00 $0.00 $13,500.00 23.77%

2024-476 03/14/2024 142 - Brush or brush-and-grass mixture 
fire

$300.00 $0.00 $300.00 0.53%

2024-488 03/16/2024 132 - Road freight or transport vehicle 
fire

$20,000.00 $0.00 $20,000.00 35.21%

2024-507 03/18/2024 111 - Building fire $2,000.00 $12,500.00 $14,500.00 25.53%

2024-543 03/23/2024 131 - Passenger vehicle fire $8,000.00 $500.00 $8,500.00 14.96%

Start Date: 03/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

TOTAL INCIDENTS TOTAL PROPERTY  LOSS TOTAL CONTENT 
LOSS

TOTAL 
LOSSES

AVERAGE 
LOSS

5 $43,800.00 $13,000.00 $56,800.00 $11,360.00

Doc Id: 265
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included

Page # 1 of 1 48



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:42:12 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Count of Violations per Occupancy Type for Inspection Date Range

OCCUPANCY TYPE # VIOLATIONS
Elementary School 2

High School 5

Total of Violations: 7

Inspection Observations: FAIL | Start Date: 03/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

Doc Id: 886
emergencyreporting.com

Total number of violations for LOCKED inspections that took place for the DATE RANGE provided for each 
Occupancy Type.

Page # 1 of 1 49



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:42:43 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Completed Inspections per Inspection Type for Date Range
Occupancy Status: All | Start Date: 03/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

ID OCCUPANCY ADDRESS DATE INSPECTOR RESULT NOTES

Inspection Type: Alarm System Test

243 Athens City Primary School
316 Mcminn AVE 
Athens, TN 37303 03/27/2024 Roach, Josh Passed

596 McMinn County Alternative 
School

1775 Overland DR 
Athens, TN 37303 03/27/2024 Evans, Robert Tyler Passed

66 Athens City Middle School
200 Keith LN 

Athens, TN 37303 03/27/2024 Evans, Robert Tyler Passed

607 McMinn County High School
2215 S Congress PKY 

Athens, TN 37303 03/27/2024 Roach, Josh Passed

602 McMinn County Career 
Technical School

2103 S Congress PKY 
Athens, TN 37303 03/27/2024 Roach, Josh Passed

Total # Inspections for Alarm System Test: 5

Inspection Type: Annual

263 Covenant Pediatrics
421 Old Riceville RD 

Athens, TN 37303 03/05/2024 Martin, Dustin R Passed

607 McMinn County High School
2215 S Congress PKY 

Athens, TN 37303 03/06/2024 Schultz, Timothy R Passed

The State Fire Marshal conducted their annual 
state inspection with the assistance of the 
Athens Fire Department. TN Fire Marshals 

office is the Authority having jurisdiction. And 
their inspection report findings is shared with 

local jurisdictions.   

380 Christ's Legacy Academy
625 Matlock AVE 
Athens, TN 37303 03/27/2024 Roach, Josh Passed

Total # Inspections for Annual: 3

TOTAL # INSPECTIONS: 8

Doc Id: 1026
emergencyreporting.com

Includes LOCKED inspections for both archived and unarchived occupancy records.

Page # 1 of 1 50



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:43:14 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Breakdown by Major Incident Types for Date Range

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
Fires 21 3.54%

Overpressure rupture, explosion, overheat - no fire 1 0.17%

Rescue & Emergency Medical Service 427 71.89%

Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 11 1.85%

Service Call 22 3.7%

Good Intent Call 42 7.07%

False Alarm & False Call 70 11.78%

TOTAL 594 100%

Zone(s): All Zones | Start Date: 01/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 1 of 2 51



Detailed Breakdown by Incident Type 

INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS % of TOTAL
100 - Fire, other 1 0.17%
111 - Building fire 3 0.51%
118 - Trash or rubbish fire, contained 1 0.17%
122 - Fire in motor home, camper, recreational vehicle 1 0.17%
131 - Passenger vehicle fire 3 0.51%
132 - Road freight or transport vehicle fire 1 0.17%
140 - Natural vegetation fire, other 2 0.34%
141 - Forest, woods or wildland fire 1 0.17%
142 - Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire 4 0.67%
151 - Outside rubbish, trash or waste fire 3 0.51%
154 - Dumpster or other outside trash receptacle fire 1 0.17%
251 - Excessive heat, scorch burns with no ignition 1 0.17%
311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 384 64.65%
320 - Emergency medical service, other 1 0.17%
321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 4 0.67%
322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 28 4.71%
323 - Motor vehicle/pedestrian accident (MV Ped) 1 0.17%
324 - Motor vehicle accident with no injuries. 8 1.35%
353 - Removal of victim(s) from stalled elevator 1 0.17%
410 - Combustible/flammable gas/liquid condition, other 2 0.34%
412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 3 0.51%
413 - Oil or other combustible liquid spill 2 0.34%
444 - Power line down 1 0.17%
445 - Arcing, shorted electrical equipment 1 0.17%
461 - Building or structure weakened or collapsed 1 0.17%
462 - Aircraft standby 1 0.17%
500 - Service Call, other 2 0.34%
510 - Person in distress, other 1 0.17%
531 - Smoke or odor removal 1 0.17%
542 - Animal rescue 1 0.17%
550 - Public service assistance, other 3 0.51%
551 - Assist police or other governmental agency 7 1.18%
553 - Public service 2 0.34%
561 - Unauthorized burning 4 0.67%
571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup 1 0.17%
600 - Good intent call, other 2 0.34%
611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 21 3.54%
622 - No incident found on arrival at dispatch address 5 0.84%
651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 11 1.85%
652 - Steam, vapor, fog or dust thought to be smoke 1 0.17%
653 - Smoke from barbecue, tar kettle 1 0.17%
671 - HazMat release investigation w/no HazMat 1 0.17%
700 - False alarm or false call, other 3 0.51%
733 - Smoke detector activation due to malfunction 1 0.17%
736 - CO detector activation due to malfunction 1 0.17%
741 - Sprinkler activation, no fire - unintentional 1 0.17%
744 - Detector activation, no fire - unintentional 62 10.44%
745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 2 0.34%

TOTAL INCIDENTS: 594 100%

Doc Id: 553
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED and/or LOCKED IMPORTED incidents are included.  Summary results for a major incident type are 
not displayed if the count is zero. 

Page # 2 of 2 52



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:43:44 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Property Values versus Loss and Save per Incident for Date Range

INCIDENT # PRE-INCIDENT VALUE LOSSES SAVED
2024-4 $3,000.00 $1,000.00 $2,000.00

2024-26 $16,434,300.00 $15,000.00 $16,419,300.00

2024-234 $8,000.00 $1,500.00 $6,500.00

2024-299 $315,000.00 $315,000.00 $0.00

2024-326 $250,000.00 $6,000.00 $244,000.00

2024-388 $20,300,000.00 $2,500.00 $20,297,500.00

2024-393 $13,500.00 $13,500.00 $0.00

2024-476 $6,000.00 $300.00 $5,700.00

2024-488 $35,000.00 $20,000.00 $15,000.00

2024-507 $14,500.00 $14,500.00 $0.00

2024-543 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 $0.00

Totals: $37,387,800.00 $397,800.00 $36,990,000.00

Start Date: 01/01/2024 | End Date: 03/31/2024

Doc Id: 968
emergencyreporting.com

Both the PRE-INCIDENT VALUE and LOSSES columns are the summation of the respective Property and Contents 
fields as recorded on the Basic Info 5 screen of an incident. Only REVIEWED incidents included. EMS incidents 
excluded.

Page # 1 of 1 53



Athens, TN
This report was generated on 4/9/2024 11:44:40 AM

City of Athens Fire Dept

Incident Detail for Aid Given and Received for Incident Type Range for Date Range

INCIDENT DATE INCIDENT # ADDRESS INCIDENT TYPE SHIFT

AID TYPE: Automatic aid received

03/16/2024 2024-488 52mm N Interstate 75 132 - Road freight or transport vehicle fire ST2 - Athens Fire 
Station 2

Percentage of Total Incidents: 0.49%

AID TYPE: Mutual aid received

03/14/2024 2024-476 1001 S WHITE ST 142 - Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire ST1 - Athens Fire 
Station 1

Percentage of Total Incidents: 0.49%

Incident Type Range: 100 - 911 | StartDate: 03/01/2024 | EndDate: 03/31/2024

Doc Id: 952
emergencyreporting.com

Displays all incidents with aid given or received, and excludes incidents with neither.  Percentages calculated from 
total number of incidents for parameters provided.  Only REVIEWED incidents included.

Page # 1 of 1 54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62


	Pages from Binder2
	Binder2
	Binder1
	2024-03-19 Meeting Minutes revised
	ATHENS CITY COUNCIL
	MINUTES OF MEETING
	March 19, 2024
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES


	Joe Barnett- school construction change orders approval
	Joe Barnett- 17032 ACS PK5_cost tracking_revised2024-03-25
	Mike- HHM  Proposal (2) (1)
	Mike- Report of Debt Obligation
	Budget Ordinance 1127 for 2024 budget amendment
	Nina-Parental leave and Holidays
	Community Development Report 1st Quarter Report 2024
	Finance  Report
	AFD Report March 2024
	01results
	02Property Values versus Loss and Save per Incident for Date Range
	03Losses for Date Range
	04Count of Violations per Occupancy Type for Inspection Date Range
	05Completed Inspections per Inspection Type for Date Range
	06Breakdown by Major Incident Types for Date Range
	07Property Values versus Loss and Save per Incident for Date Range
	08Incident Detail for Aid Given and Received for Incident Type Range for Date Range

	Police Report





